FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/5/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97495-1

Court of Appeals No 78439-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETER SCHAUB, an individual, CLOUDY SKIES PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellants,

٧.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK N.A.; BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; AND DOE DEFENDANTS 1-10.

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

KOVAC & JONES, PLLC

Richard Llewelyn Jones WSBA No. 12904 P.O. Box 1548 Snohomish, WA 98291 (425) 462-7322 rlj@kovacandjones.com Attorney for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

The Petitioners are PETER SCHAUB, an individual, and CLOUDY SKIES PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (hereinafter collectively "Mr. Schaub"), who were the Plaintiffs in the original action under King County Superior Court Case No. 18-2-01588-0 SEA and are the Appellants in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 78439-1-I.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Mr. Schaub seeks review by the Supreme Court of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals filed July 1, 2019, a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix "A"* (hereinafter "subject decision" or "Unpublished Opinion").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- A. Whether the subject decision by the Court of Appeals properly applied the appropriate standard of review/burden of proof in its analysis of the April 21, 2015 letter from Respondent, BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC (hereinafter "Bayview") (CP 77-78) in its finding that Mr. Schaub had no reasonable basis to rely on the patently ambiguous terms of the letter, contrary to existing precedent, thus meriting review under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1), *RAP* 13.4(b)(2) and *RAP* 13.4(b)(4).
- B. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Mr. Schaub's claims against Respondent, JPMORGAN CHASE BANK N.A (hereinafter "JPMorgan") on November 3, 2017 and against

Bayview and Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC (hereinafter "NWTS") on March 2, 2018 pursuant to CR 12(b) was contrary to existing precedent in its implicit finding that that Mr. Schaub's Complaint failed to articulate claims against JPMorgan upon which relief could be granted, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- C. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was contrary to existing precedent by implicitly finding NWTS had the requisite authority to act on behalf of JPMorgan on the basis of a Power of Attorney recorded February 6, 2009 (Auditor's File No. 2009020601449) issued by Chase as a separate entity from JPMorgan, thus meriting review under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1), *RAP* 13.4(b)(2) and *RAP* 13.4(b)(4).
- D. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was contrary to existing law and precedent where there was no evidence of an assignment or transfer of Mr. Schaub's Note to Bayview, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- E. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was contrary to existing precedent and violates the provisions of *RCW* 61.24.040 where the Notices of Trustee's Sale of February 26, 2013, August 18, 2014 and January 15, 2015 and was defective in several material particulars, thus meriting review under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1), *RAP* 13.4(b)(2) and *RAP* 13.4(b)(4).
- F. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was contrary to existing law and precedent where NWTS advertised the subject property as "hot" in violation of its duty of good faith to both grantor and

beneficiary under RCW 61.24.010, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- G. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was contrary to existing law and precedent where it was undisputed that (1) Mr. Schaub submitted a facially complete loss mitigation application to Bayview thirty eight days prior to the scheduled trustee's sale utilizing forms selected and provided by Bayview on behalf of Mr. Schaub, pursuant to 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW 31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b); (2) thirty-one days prior to the scheduled sale, Bayview issued a letter stating: "we have been unsuccessful in obtaining from you the following documents", but identified nothing as being necessary or required under HAMP guidelines to complete its review of Mr. Schaub's HAMP application, reasonably leading Mr. Schaub to believe (a) his loss mitigation application was facially complete within the terms of 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW 31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b) and (b) the scheduled foreclosure set for May 22, 2015 would be discontinued; (3) Despite being in possession of a facially complete loss mitigation application more than 37 days prior to the scheduled sale date, neither JPMorgan nor Bayview directed NWTS to delay or cancel the sale pending review, denying Mr. Schaub the ability to cure the default (RCW 61.24.040) or file suit to stay the sale (RCW 61.24.130) prior to the sale date; (4) inuring to Mr. Schaub's injury and damage, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- H. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence of a violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.)

(hereinafter "CPA") did not exist was clearly erroneous, thus meriting review of this Court under $RAP\ 13.4(b)(1)$ and $RAP\ 13.4(b)(4)$.

- I. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence of a violation of the Consumer Loan Act (RCW 31.04, et seq.) (hereinafter "CLA") did not exist was erroneous, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4)
- J. Whether any or all of the issues set forth above are of substantial public interest, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.1

The facts plead in Appellants' Complaint (CP 1-84) and Amended Complaint (CP 271-356) are largely undisputed.

At all times relevant to this cause of action, Mr. Schaub was the owner of that certain real property commonly described as 6043 45th Avenue S.W., Seattle, King County, Washington, (hereinafter "subject Property").

On or about October 10, 2007 Mr. Schaub executed a Note and Deed of Trust in favor of JPMorgan. CP 19-42. Although a copy of the recorded Deed of Trust was plead and provided the trial court, no copy of the Note was ever provided the trial court by any party or otherwise made a part of the record. The 1-4 Family Rider attached to the Deed of Trust, specifically provides that: "with regard to non-owner occupied investment properties, the first sentence in Uniform Covenant 6 [to the Deed of Trust] concerning Borrower's occupancy of the Property is deleted." CP 36. Indeed,

See also Mr. Schaub's initial Petition for Discretionary Review of July 28, 2019, attached hereto as *Addendum "B"*.

at all times relevant to this cause of action, Respondents, and each of them, knew that the subject property was purchased for investment purposes and was not owner-occupied and this knowledge is imputed to all of the Respondents as this document provided the basis upon which all of the named Respondents obtained an interest in the subject Property.

On or about December 9, 2009, Mr. Schaub submitted a request for modification of his loan. CP 4. His initial application was conditionally approved by JPMorgan and Mr. Schaub was directed to make three payments of \$1,192.00 beginning January 4, 2010. CP 4. It was Mr. Schaub's understanding that after JPMorgan received the three payments in a timely fashion, JPMorgan would provide Mr. Schaub a permanent modification agreement. CP 4. Mr. Schaub ultimately made ten payments of \$1,192.00 to JPMorgan from January of 2010 to October of 2010, which JPMorgan acknowledged receiving. CP 4. Although Mr. Schaub complied with all of the stated terms and preconditions imposed upon him by JPMorgan to obtain a permanent loan modification agreement, JPMorgan breached its reciprocal agreement to modify the loan. CP 4. Moreover, JPMorgan has never properly accounted for the ten payments made by Mr. Schaub from January of 2010 to October of 2010. CP 4.

On or about September 22, 2010, JPMorgan executed an Assignment of Deed of Trust that purported to assign JPMorgan's interest in the Deed of Trust to "Chase Home Financial LLC" (hereinafter "Chase"). CP 44. The Assignment of Deed of Trust was prepared and executed by an "officer" of NWTS, purporting to act pursuant to a Power of Attorney granted

by JPMorgan. Significantly, JPMorgan did not release its interest in the Note or the payments due thereunder to Chase. Arguably, payments made by Mr. Schaub were distributed to JPMorgan.

On the same day NWTS executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee. CP 46. Curiously, this Appointment of Successor Trustee was executed by an "officer" of NWTS acting pursuant to the same Power of Attorney that was issued by JPMorgan.² This Appointment of Successor Trustee was apparently executed and filed for record in apparent ignorance of the fact that Chase was not the holder of the obligation and there is no indication in the record that JPMorgan was either aware of or authorized NWTS' appointment, in apparent violation of *RCW* 61.24.010.

On February 26, 2013, Heather Smith of NWTS executed a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting sale of Mr. Schaub's home for July 12, 2013. CP 48-52. This Notice of Trustee's Sale was defective in several particulars: (1) although Ms. Smith executed the Notice of Trustee's Sale on February 26, 2013, her signature was not notarized until March 11, 2013; (2) the place of sale was designated as "the northwest corner of the ground level parking area located under the Pacific Corporate Center building, 13555 SE 36th Street in the City of Bellevue, State of Washington", which is private property, in apparent violation of *RCW* 61.24.040(5).

² At all times relevant to this cause of action, the Power of Attorney that provided NWTS authority to act on behalf of JPMorgan ("recorded 2/06/09 under Auditor's File No. 2009020601449") is the same instrument that purportedly provided NWTS authority to act on behalf of Chase, as separate entity. No Power of Attorney issued by Chase to NWTS has ever been produced. No explanation of this discrepancy has ever been provided.

At some time prior to March 11, 2013, Chase ceased to exist as a separate legal entity. CP 6.

On December 10, 2013, JPMorgan issued a second Assignment of Deed of Trust to Bayview. CP 54-56. Significantly, by this Assignment of Deed of Trust, JPMorgan again did not release its interest in the Note or the payments due thereunder to Bayview. Payments made by Mr. Schaub and collected by Bayview after this assignment were distributed to JPMorgan.

On or about June 26, 2014, Bayview "re-appointed" NWTS as successor trustee under the Deed of Trust. CP 58. At the time of this "reappointment", Bayview was not the holder of the obligation by virtue of the fact that JPMorgan retained ownership of the Note. There is no indication in the record that JPMorgan was either aware of or authorized NWTS' appointment, in apparent violation of *RCW* 61.24.010.

On August 18, 2014, Nanci Lambert of NWTS executed another Notice of Trustee's Sale, wrongfully identifying Bayview as the "Beneficiary of the Deed of Trust", despite the fact that JPMorgan retained the subject Note as owner and holder of the obligation. CP 60-65. Bayview had no right or authority to foreclose the subject Property at the time said Notice of Trustee's Sale was executed. CP 6. Although Ms. Lambert executed the Notice of Trustee's Sale on August 18, 2014, her signature was not notarized until August 22, 2014. CP 64

On January 15, 2015, Vonnie McElligott of NWTS executed another Notice of Trustee's Sale, again wrongfully identifying Bayview as the "Beneficiary of the Deed of Trust", despite the fact that JPMorgan retained

the subject Note as owner and holder of the obligation. CP 67-71. Bayview had no right or authority to foreclose the subject Property at the time this Notice of Trustee's Sale was executed. CP 7. Although Ms. McElligott executed the Notice of Trustee's Sale on January 15, 2015, her signature was not notarized until January 16, 2015. CP 71.

In advertisements submitted to USA-Foreclosure.com., NWTS indicated and represented to prospective sale bidders that the subject real property was a "hot property", representing that a successful bidder at time of sale would realize and be enriched with a considerable amount of equity (property value over the beneficiary's initial bid) if purchased at time of sale, in violation of *RCW* 61.24.010. CP 210-224.

Shortly after receipt of NWTS' Notice of Trustee's Sale, Mr. Schaub requested loss mitigation/modification through Bayview. Bayview responded by selecting and providing Mr. Schaub a HAMP owner-occupied loss mitigation/loan modification package with blank forms and expressly induced him to complete the loss mitigation/loan modification package under the procedures and within the timeline set out under 12 CFR §1024, despite Bayview's actual knowledge that the subject property was held for investment purposes and was not owner-occupied. CP 36.

On April 14, 2015, thirty-eight days prior to the scheduled sale, Mr. Schaub, through Brian Carl, a HUD approved housing counselor, submitted a complete HAMP loss mitigation application to Bayview, pursuant to 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW 31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b). CP 74-75.

On April 21, 2015, thirty-one days prior to the scheduled sale, Bayview issued a letter stating: "we have been unsuccessful in obtaining from you the following documents", but identified nothing as being necessary or required to complete its review of Mr. Schaub's HAMP loss mitigation/modification application. CP 77. By virtue of the fact that Bayview did not identify any missing information or documents, Mr. Schaub reasonably believed that (a) his loss mitigation application was facially complete within the terms of 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW 31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b) and (b) the scheduled foreclosure set for May 22, 2015 would be discontinued. Indeed, Mr. Schaub was specifically advised that while his modification package was being considered, his home would "not be referred to foreclosure" and any scheduled foreclosure sale "will not occur" pending Respondents' consideration of his modification package. CP 78.

Despite being in possession of a facially complete loss mitigation application more than 37 days prior to the scheduled sale date, neither JPMorgan nor Bayview directed NWTS to delay or cancel the sale pending review, CP 8.

On May 13, 2015, eight days prior to the scheduled sale, Bayview contacted Mr. Schaub's agent, Mr. Carl, by phone to request additional unspecified documentation related to the loss mitigation application. CP 8. Bayview email the list of documents the following day, seven days before the scheduled trustee's sale date. CP 8.

On May 22, 2015, NWTS proceeded with the sale of the subject Property for the sum of \$383,000.00, in violation of assurances to Mr. Schaub and Mr. Carl that the procedures outlined in 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW 31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b) would be followed. CP 80-81. At the time of sale, the subject real Property was valued at approximately \$500,000.00. It is significant to note that the Trustee's Deed falsely asserts that (1) at the time of sale Bayview was "the holder of the indebtedness secured by the Deed of Trust"; (2) that the sale complied with all legal requirements and provisions of the Deed of Trust and the provisions of the Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA") sufficient to "convey all of the right, title, and interest in the real and personal property sold at the trustee's sale". CP 80-81.

On May 29, 2015, Mr. Brian Carl learned the subject Property had been sold and immediately contacted NWTS to address various violations of law associated with the sale of the subject Property and to request rescission of the trustee's sale. CP 9. However, despite Mr. Carl's efforts, NWTS refused to rescind the sale on June 16, 2015, as provided under *RCW* 61.24.050(2). CP 9.

On or about January 6, 2016, at minimal expense, Emerald City Ventures LLC., sold the subject Property to Hera McLeod for the sum of \$530,000.00. CP 83-84.

On May 8, 2017, within the two years provided by *RCW* 61.24.127, Mr. Schaub filed this action, seeking damages for violation of Respondents' agreement to comply with the provisions of 12 CFR § 1024.41, RCW

31.04.027 and WAC 208-620-900(6)(b); RCW 19.86, et seq; unjust enrichment; fraud and misrepresentation; and NWTS' failure to materially comply with the provisions of RCW 61.24, et seq. CP 1-84.

On September 25, 2017, JPMorgan filed a Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to *CR* 12(b)(6). CP 85-104.

On October 17, 2017, Bayview and NWTS filed a Motion to Dismiss, or, Alternatively a Motion for a More Definite Statement, pursuant to *CR* 12(b)(6) or *CR* 12(e). CP 105-113. On November 3, 2017, the Honorable Barbara Linde granted JPMorgan's Motion to Dismiss. CP 260-262.

On November 14, 2017, Judge Linde granted in part and denied in part Bayview's and NWTS' Motion to Dismiss, providing Mr. Schaub leave to amend his Complaint to articulate claims for promissory estoppel and equitable estoppel, which he did on November 29, 2017. CP 270, CP 271-356. However, on March 2, 2018, Judge Linde granted Bayview's and NWTS' Motion to Dismiss. CP 392.

On March 29, 2018, Mr. Schaub filed his Notice of Appeal of Judge Linde's Orders of Dismissal, which was accepted on July 19, 2018.

On July 1, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Mr. Schaub's claims. *Appendix "A"*. Mr. Schaub now seeks this Court's discretionary review of the Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion.

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY.3

A. Standard of Review

Dismissal of an action under *CR 12(b)(6)* is a question of law that appellate courts review *de novo*. *Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Services*, 136 Wn.2d 322, 329-330, 962 P.2d 104 (1998); *San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax*, 160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 157 P.3d 831 (2007).

In considering motions to dismiss under $CR\ 12(b)(6)$, courts of this State may only dismiss an action if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff cannot prove any set of facts that would (a) be consistent with the complaint and (b) warrant relief. Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 68, 11 P.3d 726 (2000); Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987); Havsy v. Flynn, 88 Wn.App. 514, 945 P.2d 221 (1997); Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 176 Wn.App. 475, 485, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (hereinafter "Bavand").

Courts on appeal must presume Mr. Schaub's claims to be true and should even consider a hypothetical situation conceivably raised by the complaint on a motion to dismiss under *CR 12(b)*. *Bravo v. Dolsen Cos.*, 125 Wn.2d 745, 750, 888 P.2d 147 (1995) (quoting *Halvorson v. Dahl*, 89 Wn.2d 673, 674, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978); *Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994); *Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Services, supra; Bavand, supra*. Indeed, a court may choose to consider hypothetical facts that may not be included in the record. *Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Services, supra.*

See also Mr. Schaub's initial Petition for Discretionary Review of July 28, 2019, attached hereto as *Addendum "B"*.

CR 12(b)(6) motions should be granted "sparingly and with care" and "only in the unusual case in which plaintiff includes allegations that show on the face of the complaint that there is some insuperable bar to relief." Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Services, supra. at pg. 330 (citing to Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 414, 420, 755 P.2d 781 (1988)); Bavand.

It is Mr. Schaub's contention that neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals applied the proper burden of proof/standard of review to the facts of this case. Specifically, the Court of Appeals' analysis of the Bayview's letter of April 21, 2015 (CP 77-78) failed to apply the appropriate standard of review/burden of proof, by failing to construe the letter against the drafter (Bayview) and construing the terms and Mr. Schaub's understanding thereof, as articulated in his Complaint and Amended Complaint, in his favor. From this fundamental error, all others flow.

B. Ambiguity of Letter of April 21, 2015 (CP 77-78).

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