FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/4/2019 8:11 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> No. 97495-1 (Court of Appeals No. 78439-1-I) (King County Superior Court No. 18-2-01588-0)

> > IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLOUDY SKIES PROPERTIES, LLC et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.'S ANSWER TO PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Fred B. Burnside, WSBA No. 32491 Frederick A. Haist, WSBA No. 48937

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104-1610 206-622-3150 (telephone) 206-757-7700 (fax)

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with any published Washington decision and there is no public-interest issue. Despite citing several issues for this Court to review, Plaintiffs solely argue that the trial court incorrectly dismissed their RESPA-based promissory estoppel claim—which they did not allege against Chase. But regardless of any agency theory, the Court of Appeals ultimately was correct: (1) their claim that RESPA applies is legally **wrong**; and (2) the appellate court could not interpret the April 25, 2015 letter as estopping Bayview from foreclosing because Bayview **never** promised to postpone a foreclosure, and Plaintiffs **fail** to show reliance. This Court should deny review.

A. Plaintiffs Waived Review on Claims Alleged Against Chase.

Plaintiffs' Petition solely argues the appellate court's decision was wrong on RESPA (which was not a separate claim, Plaintiffs predicated their CLA claim on it) and promissory estoppel (which they did not allege against Chase, *see infra*). But Plaintiffs indicate they seek review of their CLA, DTA, and CPA claims alleged against Chase.³ Pet. p. 3-4. They waived review of these claims.

³ Plaintiffs previously waived review on their unjust enrichment claim. CP 241; Nov. 3, 2017 RT 11, 16; RAP 2.4, 2.5, 10.3(a)(5), 12.1; US W. Commc'ns, Inc. v. Wash. Utils. &

Plaintiffs did not raise their CLA claim before the appellate court. "Although Schaub alleges that the claim was 'thoroughly' addressed in his opening brief, the pages cited reference the CLA only in passing and include no argument as to how Respondents violated the CLA." *Schaub*, 2019 WL 2751168, at *6. Before this Court, they only mention it once, in passing, in their RESPA argument. This is insufficient to preserve review. *State v. Donaghe*, 172 Wn.2d 253, 263 fn.11 (2011) ("We do not review issues inadequately briefed or mentioned in passing").

Plaintiffs' Petition only references the DTA as a RESPA damage that is, because Bayview violated RESPA, they were not able to cure their default or enjoin the sale under the DTA. Pet. p. 15, 18, 19. They do not argue or provide authority for a discrete DTA violation. Thus, they have waived review on this issue. *Aiken v. Aiken*, 187 Wn.2d 491, 499 fn.3 (2017); *Donaghe*, 172 Wn.2d at 263 fn.11. And they waived their DTA claim by failing to enjoin the foreclosure sale. *Merry v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 188 Wn. App. 174, 183 (2015); RCW 61.24.130; RCW 61.24.127(3) (DTA provisions allowing some post-sale relief do not apply to non-owner occupied property); CP 6-8 [¶¶ 3.11-3.12, 3.15-3.17], 60-65, 67-71.

Finally, while Plaintiffs mention their CPA claim as an issue for review, they reference it only in passing in their RESPA argument. This is insufficient. *Donaghe*, 172 Wn.2d at 263 fn.11.

Transp. Comm'n, 134 Wn.2d 74, 112 (1997), *as amended* (Mar. 3, 1998); *Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 788 (2017). They also do not cite it as an issue presented for review by this Court. *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 625 (2006).

Thus, there is nothing for the Court to review as to Chase.

B. The Appellate Court Correctly Followed Precedent.

Plaintiffs do not cite any specific published decision that conflicts with the appellate court decision. Instead, Plaintiffs argue the trial and appellate courts wrongly held RESPA was inapplicable and Bayview's April 21, 2015 letter and RESPA estopped Bayview from foreclosing. The appellate court's decision was correct and complies with law—RESPA does not apply, no one promised Plaintiffs postponement, and they did not rely on Bayview's (non-existent) promise.

1. RESPA Does Not Apply to Non-Owner Occupied Property or Non-Servicers like Chase.

Chase never accepted Plaintiffs' loan modification application— Bayview did, because it (not Chase) was their loan servicer. Plaintiffs argue RESPA required Bayview to review them for a loan and postpone the foreclosure while doing so. But "[t]he procedures set forth in §§ 1024.39 through 1024.41 of this subpart **only apply to a mortgage loan that is secured by a property that is a borrower's principal residence**" (emphasis added). 12 C.F.R. § 1024.30(c)(2). Likewise, RESPA does not apply to loans "primarily for business, [or] commercial" uses. 12 U.S.C. § 2606(a)(1). Plaintiffs admitted and conceded Mr. Schaub did not occupy the rental property nor own it after April 30, 2013. CP 2 [¶ 1.2], 35-38; Pet. p. 5, 8, 17-18. Thus, RESPA does not apply and Chase and Bayview are not liable—the appellate court correctly followed the law. Ignoring their decisive admission, Plaintiffs argue that because Bayview accepted their modification application, RESPA applies. Pet. p. 17-18. They fail to provide any authority for this wrong conclusion. An inapplicable law does not apply merely because an entity elects to act consistently with it. Plaintiffs' argument conflicts and contradicts statutory and regulatory language stating RESPA does not apply to investment property. *Johnson v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., Inc.*, 635 F.3d 401, 417 (9th Cir. 2011). Plaintiffs' estoppel theory would eviscerate the plain language in RESPA and the *Johnson* holding.

Additionally, Chase is not liable because RESPA's regulations expressly state that the *servicer* has the duties Plaintiffs claim, *not* anyone else. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2 expressly defines lender differently from servicer, and 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 applies only to an application sent to the current loan *servicer*. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b), 1024.31, 1024.41. Plaintiffs admitted Chase transferred servicing in 2013 and Bayview serviced the loan in 2015 when they asked for a loan modification. CP 6-7 [¶¶ 3.9-3.11], 7-8 [¶¶ 3.14-17]. Thus, Plaintiffs' RESPA claim fails against Chase because RESPA does not apply—as the appellate court correctly held.

2. Plaintiff's Promissory Estoppel Claim Fails

Recognizing that RESPA does not apply on its face, Plaintiffs argue RESPA requirements are binding under promissory estoppel; they are **wrong**. Pet. p. 18-20. A claim for promissory estoppel consists of: (1) a promise which (2) the promisor should reasonably expect to cause

the promisee to change his position and (3) which does cause the promisee to change his position (4) justifiably relying upon the promise, in such a manner that (5) injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise. *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 171-72 (1994) (quoting *Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d. 255, 259 n.2 (1980)). Plaintiffs' promissory estoppel claim requires a promise. But Chase did not communicate with them after 2013 so it never promised them anything. And Bayview never promised to stop the foreclosure. Plaintiffs misconstrue Bayview's April 21, 2015 letter—the appellate court correctly applied contractual interpretation law in finding Plaintiffs did not state their claim.

a. Plaintiffs Did Not Sue Chase for Promissory

Estoppel.

Plaintiffs never pleaded a promissory estoppel claim against Chase—they added it to their amended complaint after the trial court dismissed Chase. CP 1-84 (Complaint); cf. CP 271-356 (Amended Complaint). They never sought leave to allege promissory estoppel against Chase—and the trial court only granted leave to allege it against Bayview. Nov. 15, 2017 RT 22:18-23:8. They cannot retroactively hold Chase liable on their new claim. *See e.g., Ennis v. Ring*, 49 Wn.2d 284, 288 (1956) (new claim does not relate back to original complaint); *Herron v. KING Broad. Co.*, 109 Wn.2d 514, 521 (1987), *decision clarified on reh'g*, 112 Wn.2d 762 (1989). There is nothing to review as to Chase.

b. Bayview Did Not Promise to Postpone the Foreclosure While Plaintiffs' Modification Application Was Pending.

Plaintiffs, attempting to avoid RESPA's inapplicability, claim that RESPA and the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HAMP") nevertheless somehow apply and RESPA and HAMP's provisions estopped Bayview from foreclosing while it reviewed their modification application.⁴ Pet. p. 13-18.

Recognizing Chase did not take their application, Chase did not send the April 21, 2015 letter they reference, and Chase did not make any representation to them, Plaintiffs argue, with no factual support, that Chase owned their Note, somehow making Bayview Chase's agent. CP 2 [¶¶ 1.6, 1.8, 4.3, 5.2]. But nothing in the record supports this legal conclusion—which this Court can disregard, *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 120 (1987), *amended*, 750 P.2d 254 (1988). Even if hypothetically Chase owned the Note, ownership does prove Bayview was its agent.

> [The servicer's] agreement with JPMorgan Chase and J.P. Morgan Trust—the apparent holders of the note at the time QLS was appointed successor trustee— . . . specified that [the servicer's] relationship to JPMorgan Chase and J.P. Morgan Trust was "intended by the parties to be that of an independent contractor *and not that of a joint venturer*, *partner or agent*." (Emphasis added.)

⁴ HAMP was a now-expired federal program designed to encourage loan modifications and had provisions on how to handle applications.

Rucker v. Novastar Mortg., Inc., 177 Wn. App. 1, 15–16 (2013). Plaintiffs must allege more than an unsupported legal conclusion to state a claim.

And the record disproves Plaintiffs' legal conclusion that Chase had any Note interest. Plaintiffs submitted facts and evidence with their Complaint that show Bayview acted as Note holder, not Chase's agent:

1) Chase assigned the Deed of Trust to Bayview;

 Bayview's Appointment of Successor Trustee states it (not Chase) is the loan beneficiary;

The Trustee's June 2014 Notice of Trustee's Sale states
 Bayview (not Chase) is the loan beneficiary;

4) The Trustee's January 2015 Notice of Trustee's Sale statesBayview (not Chase) is the loan beneficiary;

5) the Trustee's Deed states Bayview (not Chase) is "the holder of the indebtedness [*i.e.*, Note]";

6) Plaintiffs agreed the "recitals in the Trustee's deed shall be prima facie evidence of the truth of the statements made therein";

7) Plaintiffs submitted a loan modification application toBayview (not Chase) after hours on April 14, 2015 when the sale date wasMay 22, 2015;

8) Plaintiffs' modification application conceded Bayview (not Chase) was the lien holder;

Bayview (not Chase) was allegedly considering Plaintiffs' application;

10) Bayview (not Chase) requested additional documents to supplement Plaintiffs' application;

11) Bayview did not postpone the foreclosure sale; and

12) Plaintiffs' agent contacted the Trustee (not Chase) to rescind the foreclosure sale arguing it was invalid because Bayview received a complete modification application—notably, Plaintiffs did not demand rescission on the ground Bayview was a non-Note holder. CP 6-8, 31 [§ 22], 54-56, 58, 60-65, 67-71, 80-81, 120-124.

And Plaintiffs expressly allege Chase "was not the holder of the obligation by virtue of the fact that [Chase] retained ownership of the Note." CP 5 [¶ 3.6]. The recitals in the Trustee's Deed alone settle this issue because they are presumptively true. RCW 61.24.040(7). Plaintiffs' support their theory as to Chase only by legal conclusion, which their allegations show is false. *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 120.

But even if Bayview were Chase's agent and even if Plaintiffs had sued Chase for estoppel, they cannot state their promissory estoppel claim. Bayview could foreclose because Plaintiffs' application was incomplete otherwise borrowers could forever delay foreclosure by re-submitting incomplete modification applications. Bayview's April 21, 2015 letter indicates Plaintiffs failed to provide all the documents it required to review their modification application. CP 77-78. Plaintiffs also admit Bayview told them it needed further documents before the sale date. CP 8 [¶ 3.17]. Disregarding these facts, Plaintiffs argue that HAMP requirements for

facially complete applications apply, and that Bayview had to postpone the foreclosure. Pet. p. 14-18. But Bayview's letters did not promise to review them under HAMP at any time. CP 75, 77-78. Plaintiffs' application was a general, non-HAMP application. CP 120-124. Plaintiffs do not point to any HAMP provision requiring a foreclosure postponement when a non-HAMP application is pending. Thus, Plaintiffs' HAMP discussion is irrelevant and a red herring.

But whether Plaintiffs' application was complete is another red herring. Even assuming their application were facially or fully complete, RESPA prohibits proceeding with a pending foreclosure only if RESPA applies in the first instance. It does not. The appellate court correctly followed the law—RESPA does not apply here in any way. And Bayview never promised to follow RESPA requirements, so there is no promise for which Bayview is estopped from denying. Plaintiffs do not cite any other statute or regulation that could require Bayview to review Plaintiffs' application or stop a foreclosure. Bayview never otherwise promised to stop a foreclosure.

The only language potentially indicating Bayview would postpone a foreclosure is in the April 21, 2015 letter's section D. While that section states "While we consider your request, you home will not be referred to foreclosure. Any scheduled foreclosure sale will not occur pending our determination," the immediately following sentence says: "If you qualify, any foreclosure sale will not occur pending your timely return of the Trial

Period Plan payments." Plaintiffs argue this Court should use contractual interpretation principles to interpret the April 21, 2015 letter. Using the words Trial Period Plan shows that the section only applied when Bayview offered a Trial Period Plan. "Courts can neither disregard contract language which the parties have employed nor revise the contract under a theory of construing it." Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Westlake Park Assocs., 42 Wn. App. 269, 274 (1985) (quoting Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wn.2d 94, 101 (1980)); Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Emps. Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 833 (2000), opinion corrected on denial of reconsideration, 1 P.3d 578 (2000). And sections A-C, immediately above section D, all discuss Trial Period Plans. "An interpretation which gives effect to all of the words in a contract provision is favored over one which renders some of the language meaningless or ineffective." Seattle-First, 42 Wn. App. at 274. Thus, this "postpone foreclosure" language only applies if and when Bayview offered a Trial Period Plan, which it did not. The appellate court correctly followed contract interpretation law in making its holding.

Regardless, the April 21, 2015 letter does not say Bayview will postpone the foreclosure while an application (facially complete or otherwise) is pending. CP 77-78. Instead it says the opposite—Bayview will not postpone the foreclosure: "If your loan is delinquent, collection/foreclosure activity currently in progress will continue to proceed during the review process" and "[i]f we receive a complete

Borrower Response Package less than 37 calendar days before a scheduled foreclosure sale, there is no guarantee we can evaluate you for a foreclosure alternative in time to stop the foreclosure sale." CP 75, 77-78. Plaintiffs' argument requires the Court to disregard the April 21, 2015 letter's plain words stating that Bayview would continue with the foreclosure. It cannot. *Seattle-First*, 42 Wn. App. at 274; *Boeing*, 139 Wn.2d at 833. The appellate court fully considered the April 21, 2015 letter and correctly followed the law in determining Bayview did not promise to postpone the foreclosure. *Schaub*, 2019 WL 2751168, at *4.

c. Plaintiffs Did Not Show Reliance

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